

A Research and Knowledge Mobilization Project on the Settlement Outcomes–Services Nexus

Immigrant Youth in Canada:
A Literature Review of Migrant
Youth Settlement and Service Issues

Knowledge Synthesis Report

John Shields and Omar Lujan



Project Team

Secretariat Adnan Türegün, Project Lead Naolo Charles, Knowledge Exchange Officer

Women's Research Domain Rupaleem Bhuyan, Research Lead Catherine Schmidt. Research Assistant

Youth Research Domain John Shields, Research Lead Omar Lujan, Research Assistant

Seniors' Research Domain Nancy Mandell, Research Lead Jana Borras and Janice Phonepraseuth, Research Assistants

National Advisory Board

Rupaleem Bhuyan, Associate Professor, University of Toronto Noor Din, CEO, Human Endeavour

Vera Dodic, Manager, City of Toronto Newcomer Office

Debbie Douglas, Executive Director, Ontario Council of Agencies Serving Immigrants Usha George, Academic Director and Professor, Ryerson Centre for Immigration and Settlement

Lisa Gonsalves, Director, Strategies and Partnerships Branch, Regional Municipality of

Nancy Mandell, Professor, York University John Shields. Professor. Rverson University Bill Sinclair, Executive Director, St. Stephen's Community House Evengelia Tastsoglou, Professor, Saint Mary's University Adnan Türegün, Director, CERIS Lori Wilkinson, Director and Professor, Immigration Research West

Partners

City of Toronto Newcomer Office Human Endeavour Ontario Council of Agencies Serving Immigrants Ryerson Centre for Immigration and Settlement St. Stephen's Community House

> CERIS, 8th Floor, Kaneff Tower, York University, 4700 Keele Street, Toronto, ON M3J 1P3 416-736-5223 ceris@yorku.ca www.iwys.ca

FOREWORD

This report, along with thematic reports on immigrant women and seniors, and a composite report, is an output of Phase 1 (2017-2018) of the IWYS project that aims to document the settlement and service experiences of the three groups, as well as proposing new intervention strategies. Building on Phase 1 (knowledge synthesis), we will conduct primary research during Phase 2 (2018–2019) in three Ontario communities—Ottawa, Greater Toronto Area and Hamilton, and Windsor—to inform strategies for service innovation that are scalable across the country.

We hope that this report on existing research provides service providers, policymakers, fellow researchers, and the general public an opportunity to consider the settlement needs and outcomes for immigrant youth. We also welcome input to guide our primary research. Readers can help shape this agenda by providing feedback on the report to ceris@yorku.ca, subscribing and contributing to the project newsletter on www.iwys.ca, and participating in focus groups and interviews.

We would like to thank our partners, volunteer members of the National Advisory Board, and staff at Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada and York University as contribution agreement partners.

IWYS Youth Research Domain Team

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| FOREWORD | iii |
|--|-----|
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | iv |
| EXECUTIVE SUMMARY | V |
| 1. ACADEMIC LITERATURE ON IMMIGRANT YOUTH | 1 |
| 1.1 Overview | 1 |
| 2. MAJOR THEMES AND FINDINGS | 5 |
| 2.1 Underemployment and Unemployment | 5 |
| 2.2 Parental Educational Attainment, Unemployment/Underemployment, and Involvement | 7 |
| 2.3 Immigrant Youth Taking on Adult Responsibilities | 9 |
| 2.4 Language Barriers and Lack of Awareness about Services | 9 |
| 2.5 Differences Between Immigrant Youth | 10 |
| 2.6 Need for More Culturally Appropriate Services | 12 |
| 2.7 Lack of Adequate Housing and Transportation Services | 13 |
| 3. POLICY AND PROGRAMMING RECOMMENDATIONS | 15 |
| 3.1 Involving Immigrant Youth in the Development of Policies and Services | 15 |
| 3.2 Developing Culturally Appropriate Mental Health Services | 16 |
| 3.3 A Less Eurocentric Alternative to Social Inclusion | 17 |
| 3.4 Promoting STEM Careers Among Immigrant Youth | 17 |
| 3.5 Adopting a Family-Centred Approach to Immigrant Youth Services | 18 |
| 4 REFERENCES | 19 |

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is to provide a comprehensive analysis of the needs of immigrant youth in Canada. This report is based on the review of studies on immigrant youth and settlement services directed towards the following areas: Education; Health and Mental Health; Economy and Employment; Social Participation and Belonging/Identity; Settlement; Language; and Legal/Criminal Justice. Specifically, this report aims to answer the following research questions:

- What are the main issues affecting immigrant youth in Canada?
- What is the impact of settlement services on immigrant youth in Canada?

The present report is based on a critical review of academic and non-academic studies published from 2008 to 2017. These studies deal with immigrant youth services in Canada (except for Quebec), and only English language publications have been included. One-hundred-and-two studies were selected and analyzed based on a data-abstracting template. In terms of geographic distribution, most of the academic articles on immigrant youth focused on urban areas in Ontario and British Columbia, while only a small number of studies were conducted in the Atlantic Provinces. In this regard, the study of current services, needs, and experiences of immigrant youth tends to mirror the overall geographic distribution of the immigrant population in Canada. However, it does also point to gaps in research related to immigrant youth experiences in rural areas, smaller urban centres, and the more outlying regions of the country. Also, we found that there are many ways in which immigrant youth in the Canadian academic and non-academic literature come to be defined (ranging in our surveyed studies from 13 to 25 years old). Hence, differences in the definition of youth need to be taken into consideration when drawing conclusions about the service needs of immigrant youth.

In terms of areas of study, our review of the literature found that the largest number of academic articles on immigrant youth services in Canada deals with social issues in the areas of education and health/mental health. Overall, immigrant youth have strong academic outcomes as they are reported to be more likely to complete high school and more likely to attend university than those born in Canada. Also, immigrant youth tend to have cultural practices that help them avoid certain health risks while simultaneously being more engaged in sports activities. Additionally, immigrant youth are resilient and generally have more self-esteem than their Canadian-born counterparts.

Positive education and health/mental health outcomes, however, need to be understood in the context of complex challenges affecting some immigrant youth. Our study found that immigrant youth do experience high levels of stress and other mental health complications. Also, studies on education show significant differences in the school performance of immigrant youth based on their country/region of origin and age at the time of migration.

Furthermore, experience with teachers and other educational professionals can vary considerably. While many immigrant youth's experiences are quite positive, there is a lack of awareness of and sensitivity to issues faced by immigrant youth and, in some cases, even evidence of racism presenting serious barriers throughout the educational process. Similarly, studies demonstrate that the number of newcomer youth involved in gangs overall is relatively small, but youth who face isolation, exclusion, and discrimination are especially vulnerable to gang recruitment.

Major Themes and Findings

We identified major themes and findings across the following main settlement areas (Economic; Social and Civic/Political; Ideational (Belonging and Identity); Education; Health and Mental Health; Language, Legal/Criminal Justice; and Settlement Services). These themes show the close relationship between the social, family, structural, and economic problems affecting immigrant youth in Canada.

- (A) Underemployment and Unemployment
- Studies indicate that immigrant youth tend to experience high levels of unemployment and lower rates of labour market attachment. In addition, immigrant youth experience insecure precarious employment, and they tend to be employed in lower-wage jobs.
- (B) Parental Educational Attainment, Unemployment/Underemployment, and Involvement

The educational outcomes of immigrant youth are influenced by their parents' levels of education, their settlement experiences, and their level of involvement. Also, parental unemployment/underemployment and parents' lack of knowledge of the Canadian health system play an important role in the social determinants of health affecting immigrant youth.

- (C) Immigrant Youth Taking on Adult Responsibilities
- Oftentimes, immigrant youth take on adult responsibilities, which vary from becoming key breadwinners for their families to raising their younger siblings and providing care to extended family members. Such family commitments can become significant barriers to the educational and personal development of immigrant youth as they can take time away from school work, sports, and other extracurricular activities.
- (D) Language Barriers and Lack of Awareness about Services
 Newcomer immigrant youth experience difficulties in obtaining information and guidance about the Canadian education system, and this can adversely affect how they are placed in schools when they first arrive. Similarly, health care practitioners and service providers state that they face significant language and communication barriers in their work with immigrant families; they recommend that immigrant parents be provided with more support so they may become aware of the resources available to their children.

(E) Differences Between Immigrant Youth

Studies consistently show that there are significant gender, ethnic, and generational differences in the educational, health, and employment experiences of immigrant youth. There are notable gender differences in educational attainment, as immigrant girls tend to attain higher levels of academic achievement and attachment to school than immigrant boys. Similarly, there are subtle differences between first- and second-generation immigrant youth's academic performance, but both have high levels of educational attainment. Furthermore, there is a racial and gender dimension in the earning gaps between immigrant youth, as well as in their experiences of marginalization.

(F) Need for More Culturally Appropriate Services

Studies point to the need for more culturally sensitive programs to introduce immigrant youth to Canadian health services, educational systems, and support services in general. There is a need for more culturally inclusive social services, as immigrant youth and their parents often feel judged and misunderstood by social and human service workers. The literature also suggests that assumptions/biases of health care providers, ethno-cultural differences, isolation, and lack of access to information are significant barriers for immigrant youth in accessing health care. Adequate mental health services for refugee youth are particularly important, as pre-migration trauma can negatively impact newcomer youth's mental and physical health. Immigrant youth generally tend to use less sexual health services and sex education resources than their Canadian-born counterparts.

(G) Lack of Adequate Housing and Transportation Services

Newcomer youth face significant challenges in accessing housing services and are subjected to housing discrimination practices by landlords. Especially challenging is the lack of suitable housing for extended families in both the marketplace and via social housing, particularly given the extreme supply shortages in social housing in cities such as Toronto. Newcomer youth homelessness has become an acute problem because of affordability issues. The lack of efficient public transportation also impacts immigrant youth access to educational, recreational, and employment services in both major metropolitan areas (especially suburbs) and smaller and more rural communities (where public transit is often completely lacking).

Summary

Our study of the academic and non-academic literature on immigrant youth presents a complex reality in which immigrant families and youth face significant economic challenges, barriers in the school system, problems accessing culturally appropriate health care, issues related to housing and transportation, and discrimination in the labour market. Immigrant youth and their families tend to experience high levels of underemployment and unemployment, which negatively affect immigrant youth's attachment to the labour market, their mental health, and their sense of belonging. Services for immigrant youth could benefit from coordinated and comprehensive

responses that take into account their interrelated employment, mental health, and social needs.

Immigrant-receiving countries have paid increasing attention to the social and economic integration of immigrant youth. In Canada, immigrant youth have been the subject of a significant number of studies that deal with a variety of topics, from social exclusion and cultural practices to radicalization, precarious employment, and poverty. Studies on the various settlement needs of immigrant youth and their experiences with services, or with the lack of services, are particularly relevant to understanding how service providers in areas such as education, settlement, employment, and health can further support immigrant youth to overcome barriers and fulfill their potential.

This report aims to provide a comprehensive analysis about the needs of immigrant youth in Canada based on the review of studies on immigrant youth and settlement services directed towards the following areas: Education; Health and Mental Health; Economy and Employment; Social Participation and Belonging/Identity; Settlement; Language; and Legal/Criminal Justice. The present report is based on a critical review of academic and non-academic studies published between 2008 and 2017. These studies deal with immigrant youth services in Canada (except for Quebec), and only English language publications have been included. One-hundred-and-two studies were selected and analyzed based on a data-abstracting template.

This report is divided into three sections: (1) an overview of the studies reviewed on immigrant youth in Canada; (2) an analysis of the main themes and findings across the research areas; and (3) a policy and programming recommendation section highlighting some of the major lessons drawn from the literature.

1. ACADEMIC LITERATURE ON IMMIGRANT YOUTH

1.1 Overview

Our review of the literature found that the largest number of academic articles on immigrant youth services in Canada deal with social issues in the areas of education and health/mental health. This is not surprising since youth tend to be school-aged, and schools serve as important centres for educational, social, and settlement services. Schools are also a major point of contact between the immigrant family and Canadian society and hence are a critical site for integration." Similarly, health and mental health are areas of study that include topics as varied as active and healthy living, sexual health services, and depression, which are relevant to a population experiencing both the complexities of reaching full physical and emotional maturity, and the challenges of settling in a new country.

On the other hand, our review of the literature shows that there are relatively few academic articles published in the last 10 years focusing on the civic/social contributions of immigrant youth in Canada and the services that they provide to their families and the community at large. In this regard, the literature on immigrant youth pays significantly less attention to their contribution to immigrant families (such as translation and child care) than to the social barriers that can negatively affect their health, education, and successful integration into Canadian society. Also surprisingly, given the centrality of employment challenges for immigrant youth, there is only a modest number of articles that focus on the employment and economic dimensions of immigrant youth integration.

Methodologically, we found that, overall, there is a relative balance in the literature between quantitative and qualitative studies on immigrant youth. Additionally, a significant number of studies utilize mixed methods, employing both quantitative and qualitative analysis. This balance is significant as it provides the present study with both relatively small-scale, in-depth qualitative studies and relatively large-scale statistical examinations of immigrant youth's experiences and needs. Hence, as a whole, we did not find important gaps in the methodologies utilized by the literature on immigrant youth or on the scale of the studies; however, as previously mentioned, there are significant gaps in the research areas examined by researchers.

In terms of geographic distribution, most of the academic articles on immigrant youth focus on urban areas in Ontario and British Columbia, while only a small number focus

on the Atlantic Provinces. This somewhat reflects the distribution of the immigrant population in Canada outside Quebec, which is skewed towards Ontario and British Columbia. Similarly, among the Prairie Provinces, there are more studies originating from Alberta (which has recently seen a large increase in levels of immigration) than from Manitoba, and Saskatchewan in particular. This further suggests that the study of current services, needs, and experiences of immigrant youth tends to mirror the overall geographic distribution of the immigrant population in Canada. However, it does also point to gaps in research related to immigrant youth experiences in rural areas, smaller urban centres, and the more outlying regions of the country.

Interestingly, we found many variations in the way that immigrant youth are defined in the Canadian academic and non-academic literature, ranging from the age of 13 to 25. Older age categories are commonly employed in studies dealing with the labour market (15 to 25 years of age), and younger starting points are used in areas such as education and health. In addition, studies about immigrant youth include first-generation immigrants, immigrants who have arrived in Canada as children or in their teens (also known as 1.5 generation immigrants), and to а lesser extent, secondgeneration immigrants who are children of immigrants born in Canada. Such discrepancies in the definition of youth can be explained by disciplinary differences and by the scope of the specific studies. For instance, the service needs and experiences of a 13-year-old newcomer can be significantly different from those of a 25-year-old, second-generation Canadian. Hence, differences in the definition of youth need to be taken into consideration when drawing conclusions about the service needs of immigrant youth. Having said that, the most prevalent age range used to define youth in our surveyed literature was the United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization's (UNESCO) - ages 15 to 24.

A major reason behind immigrants' choice to come to Canada is to provide a better life and future for their children. The high quality of schooling in Canada is a prime driving factor in this reasoning (Shields et al. Forthcoming). Reaffirming the thinking of many immigrant families, the literature shows that immigrant youth have positive academic performance and experiences in the Canadian school system. Immigrant youth are 2.5 times more likely to complete high school and 39% more likely to attend university than those born in Canada (Stermac et al. 2010:7). Also, second-generation youth are 35% more likely to acquire a university degree than those born to two Canadian-born parents (Stermac et al. 2010). Such strong academic outcomes highlight the capacity of immigrant youth to adapt to and excel in the Canadian school system.

There are, however, а number of important issues worth noting. Studies on significant differences school performance of immigrant education show in the youth depending on their country/region of origin (Finnie 2009; Anisef et al. 2010; Hamilton et al. 2011; Odo D'Silva, and Gunderson 2012; Wilkinson et al. 2012). For example, Caribbean immigrant youth tend to experience racism (Rousseau et al. 2009), and Francophone immigrant youth experience language exclusion (Prasad 2012; Tabu, Jacquet. and Moore 2014), which negatively affect their academic Others may have relatively strong academic achievement, as in the cases of Turkish (Kayaalp 2014) and Chinese (Li 2009, 2010) immigrant youth, but often feel alienated by the Eurocentric school curricula they have to learn in Canada.

It has also been found that age at the time of migration can have a significant impact on academic outcomes, with younger people generally being able to adapt more quickly and more successfully, as well as learning English and/or French more easily than youth who are older at the time of migration. Furthermore, immigrant youth's experiences with teachers and other educational professionals can vary considerably. While many immigrant youth's experiences are quite positive, there is a lack of awareness of and sensitivity to issues that they face and, in some cases, even evidence of racism presenting serious barriers in the educational process. Moreover, many schools are not fully equipped to deal with newcomer youth. Most importantly, ESL/FSL resources are often lacking (Shields et al. Forthcoming).

Immigrant youth tend to have cultural practices that help them avoid certain health risks; such as eating a healthy diet (AMSSA 2016) and smoking less (Stoll 2008), while simultaneously being more engaged in sports activities than Canadian-born youth (Kukaswadia and Jansen 2014; Edge, Newbold, and McKeary 2014). Additionally, immigrant youth are resilient and generally have more self-esteem than their Canadian-born counterparts. For instance, students from war zones in general have higher scores on measures of self-efficacy - the belief in one's innate ability to achieve one's goals - than do Canadian-born students (Stermac et al. 2010:7). While active and healthy living and positive self-esteem may assist in countering some of the more negative health and mental health issues that immigrant youth confront, our study found that immigrant youth do experience high levels of stress and other mental health complications.

In addition, studies demonstrate that the number of newcomer youth involved in gangs overall is comparatively small but, for some immigrant youth with pre-migration and those livina low-income household, such trauma in а conditions constitute risk factors that can lead to involvement in gang activities and other antisocial behaviour (Hamilton, Noh, and Adlaf 2009; Rossiter 2009a; Sersli 2010; Van Ngo 2017). Youth who face isolation, exclusion, discrimination and are especially vulnerable to gang recruitment (Rossiter 2009a; Dei and Rummens 2010; Sersli 2010). For example, a qualitative study with 25 immigrant and refugee youth in Vancouver shows that disenfranchisement from school and society/school peers not being inclusive or respectful of difference (manifested by bullying, teasing, or simply indifference) are common risk factors for gang involvement (Sersli 2010:15). At the same time, gang involvement is a lengthy process, and newcomers are usually too focused on getting established during their initial years in Canada to be attracted to gangs (Sersli 2010:15). Settlement and educational services that facilitate social inclusion and school adaptation could help reduce risks of gang involvement among immigrant youth, whereas increasing cuts to settlement services could counterweigh gang prevention efforts.

Studies on gang involvement identify isolation as a risk factor and promote relationshipbuilding programs and programs that foster connections with peers and adults as effective forms of gang prevention (Rossiter 2009b; Sersli 2010). Parents and grandparents are adult family members who could help foster valuable interpersonal social skills among immigrant youth and also help reduce their sense of isolation. The decline in the number of parents and grandparents reuniting with their families in represents Canada. however. а significant barrier to promoting positive intergenerational relations. Given some of the ongoing challenges that many immigrant youth confront, it is perhaps surprising that higher levels of gang and other anti-social behaviour are not present. Arguably, increasing research on an area with such low levels of activity may be more a reflection of societal fears than the reality of immigrant youth experiences.

Therefore, immigrant youth's low levels of involvement in criminal activities and their overall positive education and health outcomes need to be understood in light of their ongoing challenges with isolation, social exclusion, and marginalization.

The following section presents major themes and findings that were identified across the main settlement areas (Economic; Social and Civic/Political; Ideational (Belonging and Identity); Education; Health and Mental Health; Language, Legal/Criminal Justice; and Settlement Services). These themes show the close relationship between the social, family, structural, and economic problems affecting immigrant youth in Canada. themes include: (A) Underemployment and unemployment; (B) Parental The unemployment/underemployment, educational attainment, and involvement; (C) Immigrant youth taking on adult responsibilities; (D) Language barriers and lack of awareness about services; (E) Differences between immigrant youth; (F) Need services; and (G) Lack of adequate housing for culturally appropriate transportation services.

2. MAJOR THEMES AND FINDINGS

2.1 Underemployment and Unemployment

Studies indicate that immigrant youth tend to experience high levels of unemployment and relatively lower rates of labour market attachment, and that the problem of precarious employment among immigrant youth is prevalent. Low employment engagement rates can be explained by immigrant youth being school-aged. For example, a study using the Survey of Labour and Income Dynamics shows that immigrant youth aged 15 to 19 years were much less likely to be active in the labour market, as a majority are enrolled in secondary education, while those aged 20 to 24 were more likely to participate in the labour market (Wilkinson 2008:159). However, in each case, immigrant youth had lower levels of labour market participation rates compared to Canadian-born youth (Yan, Lauer, and Jhangiani 2008). It remains unclear if the reason for this is a greater focus by immigrant youth on their studies or that many have given up actively looking for work because they have become discouraged by their previous lack of success in obtaining a job.

Some quantitative studies reveal that high unemployment rates can be the result of discriminatory practices by employers. A study in the Jane and Finch neighbourhood in Toronto shows that Ghanaian immigrant youth use different addresses on their job applications, as employers tend to see youth from that neighbourhood only in a negative light (Zaami 2015:85). Clearly one's class, race, gender, as well as neighbourhood can have a negative effect on employment prospects. Of course, these factors are related.

In Toronto, for example, low income neighborhoods have become concentrated within the inner suburbs of the city (Hulchanski 2010). A study by St. Stephen's Community House and Access Alliance (2016) found that immigrants and racialized groups are more likely to live in these areas. These inner suburbs have seen a rise of police presence that tends to target black male youth. Having a criminal background makes it more difficult for youth to obtain employment (St. Stephen's Community House and Access Alliance 2016). Studies also show that the neighbourhood within which a young person lives impacts their life chances in various ways, and belonging to a highly visible, marginalized community impacts those chances in a negative way. Such neighbourhoods are also underserviced by youth employment as well as other

programs (Zaami 2015). Hence, the literature points to the fact that postal code matters when examining labour market and socio-economic outcomes.

Canadian-born youth also have high levels of labour market marginalization; however, newcomer status adds an additional barrier to labour market access (Lauer et al. 2012: Abada 2014; Agyekum 2011). Immigrant non-students, those with more years of education but somewhat fewer years in Canada, and those from regions other than Africa, are more likely to find work in Canada (Wilkinson 2008). Thus, active immigrant students, particularly those from Africa, are at a higher risk of experiencing underemployment unemployment than other immigrant youth. Our and most recently arrived immigrant youth also shows that refugee youth and the experience higher levels of unemployment (Hou and Bonikowska 2016). Newcomer youth have higher rates of unemployment compared to Canadian-born youth (AMSSA) 2016), and refugee youth have lower levels of employment than Canadian-born youth and immigrant youth who are not refugees (Wilkinson 2008).

In addition, immigrant youth experience insecure precarious employment, and they tend to be employed in lower end jobs. Some immigrant/refugee youth are also forced to work in the "underground" economy while their immigration applications are being processed, which makes them particularly vulnerable to exploitation (Lauer et al. 2012). Moreover, immigrant youth - particularly African, Jamaican, and Latin Americantend to be employed in lower quality jobs (such as those found in the fast-food industry) compared to others. While these types of jobs are generally promoted as a way for immigrant youth to get the so-called all important "Canadian work experience" (Lauer et al. 2012), our review of the literature shows that immigration status and region of origin place some racialized immigrant youth such as Africans, Jamaicans, and Latin Americans at the very bottom of the entry-level employment ladder (Hou and Bonikowska 2016). Factors that appear to play into more negative employment outcomes for these groups include racial and country of origin discrimination, lower rates of advanced education compared to some other immigrant groups, and focusing on areas of work and educational orientation that tend to be less rewarded in the Canadian labour market. On the other hand, 1.5 generation immigrant youth from Hong Kong, Taiwan, People's Republic of China, and South Korea are likely study business, management, public administration, science, engineering, and mathematics, eventually resulting in earnings advantages over the third-plus generation Canadians of European descent by a rate ranging between 14% and 25% (Boyd 2016:720).

Gender is, of course, important in determining labour market outcomes. Overall, men tend to do better than women in terms of salary, job security, and labour market participation rate, and these patterns hold when applied to various immigration statuses (Shields et al. 2010). Women, including female youth, are more likely to take jobs associated with the so-called "female" qualities in the caring spheres that are of lower status and pay (Tyyska 2014). Being a young female is correlated with earning less money and with longer periods of unemployment (Lightman and Gingrich 2012). In an earlier study by Wilkinson (2008), significant differences between male and female

refugee youth were found: specifically, 65.7% of male refugees were employed in the summer of 1998 compared to only 45.9% of female refugees. Yan, Lauer, and Chan (2012) label the experience of racialized immigrant youth in the Canadian labour market as "double jeopardy," because belonging to a minority group and being an immigrant create barriers for labour market success. Visible minority immigrant youth systematically earn less money and face more obstacles, including discrimination and racism, in the labour market (Pendakur and Pendakur 2016).

Overall, youth face many challenges in the Canadian labour market. Youth (ages 15 to 24) face unemployment levels that are double the adult rates. Immigrant youth unemployment rates are even higher than those for youth in general. In 2014, for example, immigrant youth unemployment was 17% compared to about 14% for overall youth. Unemployment rates among more recently arrived youth are higher than those for youth who have been in Canada for more extended time periods (Canadian Observatory on Homelessness 2017).

Our study of the literature shows that some of the common challenges faced by immigrant youth in their efforts to enter the Canadian labour market include lack of "appropriate" workplace clothing of effective for interviews. lack transportation (especially in suburban and more remote areas), and racial and ethnic discrimination (Agyekum 2011). Immigrant youth rely on informal employment strategies such as friendship networks to find employment and they are more than three times as likely to use co-ethnic friends as non co-ethnic friends to secure the first job in Canada (Lauer et al. 2012). Also, formal search strategies such as the use of want ads, cold calls, employment agencies, and volunteering are common strategies utilized by immigrant youth in their efforts to find employment (Yan, Lauer, and Chan 2012; Handy and Greenspan 2009). Poor employment outcomes, however, raise questions regarding the effectiveness of such approaches.

2.2 Parental Educational Attainment, Unemployment/Underemployment, and Involvement

The educational outcomes of immigrant youth are influenced by parents' levels of education, their settlement experiences, and their levels of involvement. A significant body of research reveals that the educational outcomes of immigrant youth in Canada are largely influenced by parental educational attainment, parental involvement, and their parents' inclusion in or exclusion from the labour market (Abada 2009a; Rousseau et al. 2009; Anisef et al. 2010; Hamilton et al. 2011; Li 2010; Taylor and Harvey 2013; Kayaalp 2014). Downward social mobility appears to be especially relevant in immigrant youth's academic development (Taylor and Harvey 2013). The relationship between immigrant youth's academic performance and their parents' experiences in the

labour market underscores the importance of the family's economic and emotional stability in the overall educational development and labour market attachment and success of immigrant youth. It also points to the importance of the family (Shields and Lujan Forthcoming) as a unit of analysis in examining youth.

Immigrant youth self-identified as Black are 25% less likely than non-visible minority Canadians to be in university (Abada 2009a:195). The educational disadvantage of self-identified Black immigrant youth has been linked to a low degree of trustful relations with networks that could provide them with valuable sources of educational support and information (Abada 2009a:202). By contrast, Asian immigrant youth have higher probabilities of obtaining a university education than do non-visible minority Canadians (Abada 2009a; Sweet et al. 2010). A study on recent Chinese immigrant youth shows that highly educated parents often cannot find professional employment in Canada and, instead, dedicate themselves fully to their children's education, providing direct academic instruction at home in areas such as math, physics, chemistry, and computer programming (Li 2009:489). Also, the academic success of Asian immigrant youth has been linked to a high level of parental support and involvement (Abada 2009a). Overall, first- and second-generation immigrants (54.3% and 57%, respectively) have higher university participation rates than non-immigrant Canadians (37.7%) (Finnie 2009:9).

Moreover, parental unemployment/underemployment and parents' lack of knowledge of the Canadian health system play an important role in the social determinants of health affecting immigrant youth. Research indicates that newcomer youth tend to suffer from stress resulting from the barriers their parents face in entering the Canadian labour market (Shakya, Khanlou, and Gonsalves 2010; George, Bassani, and Armstrong 2012). For example, a quantitative study with 1,225 Southeast Asian immigrant youth in British Columbia shows that Southeast Asian youth with recent immigrant status have been associated with five times higher odds of extreme despair than average and that extreme despair is generally higher among newcomer youth (Hilario et al. 2014:1126).

The same study shows that among young immigrant men, family connectedness is the only significant protective factor against extreme stress (Hilario et al. 2014:1126). However, immigrant parents have difficulties in effectively advocating for their children to attain the health services they may need (Lindsay et al. 2012; Beiser et al. 2011). Parents' socio-economic standing is a factor that is likely more important as a determinant of health for immigrant youth than is the case with non-immigrant youth (Barozzino 2010; Wahi et al. 2014). Linguistic barriers have been identified as one of the biggest challenges for immigrant parents to learn about the health system in Canada (Shakya, Khanlou, and Gonsalves 2010:99). The need for family-inclusive educational and health services that address the special circumstances of immigrant youth dealing with instability at home is made evident in the academic literature.

2.3 Immigrant Youth Taking on Adult Responsibilities

Oftentimes, immigrant youth take on adult responsibilities, which vary from becoming key breadwinners for their families to raising their younger siblings and providing care to extended family members (Lee and Pacini-Ketchabaw 2011; Shakya et al. 2010). Such family commitments can become significant barriers to the educational and personal development of immigrant youth, as they can take time away from school work, sports, and other extracurricular activities (Costigan 2009; Shakya et al. 2010). There is a gender and immigration status component to immigrant youth's family and community commitments as, for instance, child care services are generally expected to be carried out by girls (Lee and Pacini-Ketchabaw 2011), and refugee youth very often become interpreters, service navigators, and caretakers for their families (Shakya et al. 2010).

While some scholars advocate for educators, social workers, and policymakers not to see immigrant girl caregivers as victims but rather to recognize and support their contribution to society (Lee and Pacini-Ketchabaw 2011), it is evident that family and community commitments can be a double-edged sword. Refugee youth have identified financial barriers, such as limited social assistance and resettlement assistance, as one of the main causes for taking on adult responsibilities (Shakya et al. 2010:72).

Providing more social assistance and resettlement assistance, accessible child care, and social services for immigrant families can reduce the need for immigrant youth to take on overly burdensome adult responsibilities.

2.4 Language Barriers and Lack of Awareness about Services

Increasing funding shortfalls and a short-term planning mentality impact the ability of service providers to effectively disseminate information about their programs to newcomer youth (Francis and Yan 2016). Newcomer immigrant youth experience difficulties in obtaining information and guidance about the Canadian education system, which can be detrimental to how they are placed in schools when they first arrive (Shakya, Khanlou, and Gonsalves 2010). Also, some immigrant parents lack the necessary language skills and familiarity with the school system to find information about educational services available for their children and youth (Li 2016:8).

Similarly, health care practitioners and service providers state that they face significant language and communication barriers in their work with immigrant families; they recommend that immigrant parents be provided with more support so they may become aware of the resources available to their children (Lipsicas and Mäkinen 2010; Lindsay et al. 2012).

A practical suggestion to promote information about educational and settlement services and to assist in the integration of immigrant and refugee youth in a new school setting is the utilization of cultural brokers, which have been proven to facilitate school adaptation for this population (Yohani 2013). More information and support on how to access educational, health, and settlement services, however, are still needed. Some newcomer youth encounter barriers in accessing immigration services (Assefa et al. 2017) as well as lacking adequate information about settlement and health services (Sarnia-Lambton LIP 2013; Francis and Yan 2016; Thomson et al. 2015), and information about vaccinations, mental health issues, and recreational and physical activities (Li, Que, and Power 2017:1112).

There is also a need to provide more information about volunteering opportunities for services in the community and how these can be beneficial to immigrant youth (Handy and Greenspan 2009; Sarnia-Lambton LIP 2013). More information of better quality about the uses and potential value of volunteering opportunities available to immigrant youth would also be an asset (Handy and Greenspan 2009; Yan, Lauer, and Chan 2012; Sarnia-Lambton LIP 2013). Studies show that immigrant youth are frequently engaged in volunteering, particularly volunteering in hospitals with children, at local events, and through their religious institutions (Handy and Greenspan 2009; Yan, Lauer, and Chan 2012; Sarnia-Lambton LIP 2013). Volunteering can provide opportunities to develop skills, build social capital, and provide valuable Canadian work experience. Volunteering is commonly recommended by settlement agencies for newcomers as a useful strategy that can help in the long integration process (Shields et al. Forthcoming; Shields and Lujan Forthcoming).

2.5 Differences Between Immigrant Youth

Studies consistently show that there are significant gender, ethnic, and generational differences in the educational, health, and employment experiences of immigrant youth. There are notable gender differences in educational attainment, as immigrant girls tend to report higher academic achievement and attachment to school than immigrant boys (Abada 2009b; Stermac et al. 2010; Odo, D'Silva, and Gunderson 2012). Additionally, a higher proportion of immigrant females obtain university degrees, but this also reflects the more general Canadian pattern (Abada 2009b:590).

Similarly, there are subtle differences between first- and second-generation immigrant youth's academic performance (Kayaalp 2014; Anisef et al. 2010; Kayaalp 2015; Odo,

D'Silva, and Gunderson, 2012; Finnie 2009), but both have high levels of educational attainment (AMSSA 2016).

There are racial and gender differences in the earning gaps between immigrant youth, as well as in their experiences of marginalization. Our review of the academic literature shows that generally the earning gap is larger for visible minority males than for white immigrant males and white or visible minority immigrant women (Pendakur and Pendakur 2016). Moreover, immigrant boys tend to face more ethnic discrimination by their peers than immigrant girls (Oxman-Martinez et al. 2012; Oxman-Martinez and Choi 2014). Gender and racial differences in the experience of social and economic marginalization underscore the need to pay special attention to the social exclusion of male, racialized immigrant youth (Reza 2017; Walsh et al. 2011)

Immigrant youth from Muslim majority countries are commonly viewed by many in Canadian society as potential threats (Yogasingam 2017). As governmental counter-radicalization strategies increasingly focus on "evidence-based" research, studies show that there has been a tendency to connect Muslim theology and socio-cultural psychological characteristics with youth radicalization. There has been an increase in the number of publications on radicalization theories using typologies surrounding the so-called "lone wolf" threat (Silva 2018:7). Radicalized immigrant youth are included in this threat.

Some refugee youth from the Middle East are particularly vulnerable to marginalization as in the case of LGBT Syrian refugee youth in Toronto, for they face discrimination both within and without the Syrian community (City of Toronto 2016:16). Cultural change and adaptation are ongoing issues within the immigrant community, with limited programming addressing this issue.

Immigrant youth who speak English at home have greater access to services than those who do not (Salehi, Hynie, and Flicke 2014; Wahi et al. 2014). Lack of English language proficiency can form a barrier in education, employment, and social settings (Berman et al. 2009; Shakya, Khanlou, and Gonsalves 2010; Farrales and Pratt 2012; Edge, Newbold, and McKeary 2014; AMSSA 2016). Despite ongoing efforts, there are still significant language and communication issues for health and community service workers in providing services to immigrant families (Lindsay et al. 2012).

Bilingual youth are 50% more likely to be employed (Wilkinson 2008), and the ability to speak English or French enhances the possibilities for movement out of marginalized spaces (Berman et al. 2009:425). African Francophone immigrant youth in Ontario, however, experience difficulties accessing services in French (Social Planning Council of Ottawa 2010; Mady 2012). Furthermore, Francophone immigrant youth in bilingual Ottawa experience significant economic and social barriers despite the fact that their parents may have Canadian post-secondary education, are often fluent in both official languages, and live in areas where there are French language services available (Social Planning Council of Ottawa 2010). Clearly, there are specific challenges which Francophone immigrant youth confront outside of Quebec.

2.6 Need for More Culturally Appropriate Services

Studies consistently show the need for more culturally inclusive social services, as immigrant youth and their parents often feel judged and misunderstood by social and human service workers (Berman et al. 2009; Dumbrill 2009). The literature also suggests that the assumptions/biases of health care providers, as well as ethno-cultural differences, isolation, and lack of access to information, are significant barriers for immigrant youth in accessing health care (Barozzino 2010; Shakya, Khanlou, and Gonsalves 2010; Salehi, Hynie, and Flicke 2014). For instance, Syrian newcomer parents and youth often resist accessing professional mental health services; instead, they seek support from family and community sources who generally lack specialized health knowledge (City of Toronto 2016:13). Adequate mental health services for refugee youth are particularly important, as pre-migration trauma can very negatively impact newcomer youth's mental and physical health. Overall, studies indicate that there is a lack of adequate youth mental health support although the need seems to be expanding (Salehi 2010; Guruge and Butt 2015; AMSSA 2016).

Immigrant youth tend to use less sexual health services and sex education resources than non-immigrant youth (Flicker 2010; Homma et al. 2013; Salehi, Hynie, and Flicke 2014). This difference appears to be heavily influenced by religion and cultural practices. For instance, Asian youth are significantly less likely than other racial categories to have accessed sexual health services and health education resources (Flicker 2010; Homma et al. 2013; Salehi, Hynie, and Flicke 2014). While information about sex education and health services could be available outside school, it is important to point out that the exclusion from participating in popular mainstream peer culture pushes many new immigrant adolescents to value their ethnic social life (Li 2009). Consequently, they often develop a deeper sense of community within their own ethnic enclaves (Berman et al. 2009; AMSSA 2016), where informal sources of sex education and sexual health services are often not readily available. Studies point to the need for more culturally sensitive programs to introduce immigrant youth to Canadian health services. educational systems. and general (MacNevin 2012; Sarnia-Lambton LIP 2013; Lund and Lee 2015; Wesley Urban Ministries 2014; Rossiter et al. 2015).

Other studies have found that some immigrant youth resent what they perceive as an overly Eurocentric Canadian school curriculum, which largely excludes the contributions of their own culture and history (Li 2009; Kayaalp 2014). Such studies suggest that educators should be trained to accommodate their teaching styles to take into consideration the unique life experiences of immigrant and refugee youth as well as to

expand their understanding of diversity in learning styles (MacNevin 2012; Yohani 2013).

2.7 Lack of Adequate Housing and Transportation Services

Our review of the literature shows that newcomer youth face significant challenges in housing accessing housing services and face discrimination practices by landlords (Immigrant Services Society of BC 2016; Sarnia-Lambton LIP 2013; Halton Region 2016; Assefa et al. 2017). Especially challenging is the lack of suitable housing for extended families in both the marketplace and via social housing, particularly given the extreme supply shortages in social housing in cities such as Toronto. Newcomer youth homelessness has become an acute problem because of affordability issues. Those under the age of 24 have been found to be "particularly overrepresented among the homeless population" in many cities across Canada. There is also the problem of "hidden homelessness," where newcomer youth lack permanent housing and are forced to couch-surf or reside in extremely overcrowded housing situations (Canadian Mental Health Association 2014). Similarly, high transportation costs and a lack of adequate public transportation services often negatively affect newcomer youth during the settlement process (Sarnia-Lambton 2013; Li et al. 2017). The lack of efficient public transportation services negatively affects immigrant youth access to educational, recreational, and employment services in both major metropolitan areas (especially suburbs) and smaller and more rural communities (where public transit is often completely lacking).

Summary

The main themes and findings we identified in the academic and non-academic literature on immigrant youth present a complex reality:= significant economic challenges affecting immigrant families and youth, barriers in the school system, problems accessing culturally appropriate health care, issues related to housing and transportation, and discrimination in the labour market, all influence the overall well-being of immigrant youth. Immigrant youth and their families tend to experience high levels of underemployment and unemployment, which negatively affect immigrant youth's attachment to the labour market, their mental health, and their sense of belonging. Services for immigrant youth could benefit from coordinated and comprehensive responses that take into account their interrelated employment, mental health, and social needs.

Similarly, immigrant youth's educational outcomes are influenced by parental educational attainment and parental unemployment/underemployment, which add significant stress into the lives of immigrant youth. Although this population is resilient,

their overall positive academic outcomes should also be understood in light of their experiences with significant levels of stress. Services should focus on providing immigrant youth with the necessary counselling and mental health support and should not be solely dependent on their individual ability to cope with stress and overcome social barriers. Relying exclusively on immigrant youth's resilience to successfully manage the challenges associated with movement to adulthood and integration into Canadian society is unrealistic. A more comprehensive and family-centric approach to educational and mental health service delivery could further support immigrant students to better deal with stress. Providing more support and incentives to immigrant parents using settlement and employment services could also help reduce the levels of stress that these families experience. This is important since our review of the literature shows that some immigrant youth take on adult responsibilities to help their families and that such activities can also impact their educational advancement.

The literature shows that immigrant youth's educational outcomes and integration into Canadian society and labour market differ significantly depending on their gender, countries/regions of origin, and immigration status. Service delivery that prioritizes the needs of refugee youth from specific regions/countries should take into consideration the effects of family separation, pre-migration trauma, poverty, and racial discrimination as interconnected issues. Outreach efforts and service delivery for specific ethnic groups could also benefit from partnerships with local ethnic community agencies that have relevant language and cultural expertise. Gender-specific programming is also necessary to address particular challenges faced by female and male immigrant youth.

There is a need for more culturally inclusive teaching methods and social service practices. While there is an overall appreciation of the Canadian school system by immigrant youth, there is also significant frustration by many immigrant high school students with the exclusion of Asian and Middle Eastern history and culture in the school curricula, as well as with more general problems associated with cultural insensitivity. Lack of culturally adequate services leads to lower utilization of services by immigrant youth in key areas such as sexual health and mental health. Furthermore, there is an overall lack of awareness among immigrant youth about the services available to them, which further complicates their access to services. Lastly, the lack of efficient public transportation services reduces immigrant youth access to services, and this is a particularly serious problem outside the major urban centres. Feelings of disconnection with the school curricula and social services can further increase levels of alienation from Canadian society among some immigrant youth. The complex and interrelated challenges affecting immigrant youth in Canada require comprehensive solutions, which must include the voice of immigrant youth and their families. The following section includes some practical policy recommendations to promote more inclusive and effective services for immigrant youth.

3. POLICY AND PROGRAMMING RECOMMENDATIONS

The major themes and findings in our study underscore the need for a comprehensive, culturally appropriate, and family-centred approach in the policies and services that aim to support the overall development of immigrant youth in Canada. The following recommendations are based on findings and recommendations from the studies reviewed, and they aim to direct policies and services in a more family and culturally inclusive direction.

3.1 Involving Immigrant Youth in the Development of Policies and Services

According to Van Ngo (2009), service providers need to actively engage and involve immigrant youth in the planning, development, and evaluation of all services for immigrant youth. This policy recommendation is echoed in the 2016 Refugee Resettlement Program of the City of Toronto, which argues for the development of a newcomer youth advisory board to further support and enhance the social and civic integration of newcomer youth in Toronto (City of Toronto 2016:16). Smaller municipalities also recognize the need to include the voice and perspective of immigrant youth in their service delivery. For example, Halton Region's newcomer strategy aims to apply a newcomer youth lens to programming in order to increase accessibility, uptake, and integration of immigrant youth (Halton Region 2016:3).

A practical manner to involve immigrant youth in the development of policies and services at the local level can be to promote organized immigrant youth groups in areas that may be of interest to them, such as sports, arts, and culture. For example, the Sarnia-Lambton strategy for promoting sports and recreation opportunities for immigrant children and youth aims to establish an immigrant youth group with a focus on the arts (Sarnia-Lambton LIP 2013). Immigrant youth groups can be consulted in developing specific policies and programs related to their specific area of interest. In addition, this represents a practical way to promote leadership and community engagement among immigrant youth.

3.2 Developing Culturally Appropriate Mental Health Services

Lack of culturally appropriate services is one of the main obstacles that prevents immigrant youth from accessing mental health services. Lindsay recommends matching clinicians with families from similar backgrounds (where feasible) and/or hiring more ethnically and/or linguistically diverse staff (2012). While such a policy recommendation is ideal, another solution can be to strengthen physicians' and patients' intercultural competency by: (1) periodically providing educational sessions on specific cultural practices and traditions for physicians working with immigrant youth; and (2) periodically providing educational sessions on mental health concepts and practices to immigrant youth seeking professional help. Cultural awareness sessions for physicians and educational sessions on mental health for immigrant youth can be developed in consultation with immigrant communities as well as with international mental health experts.

Further Support for the Educational Development of Refugee and Immigrant Youth Yohani (2013) presents a practical approach to further supporting the social adaptation of refugee and immigrant youth to the Canadian school system, through employing cultural brokers to connect immigrant parents and youth with school and settlement services (Yohani 2013). This idea is also presented by Rossiter (2009b:14) who argues that cultural brokers should be employed in schools to facilitate the successful adaptation of newcomers. Cultural brokers can provide culturally appropriate school services for immigrant parents. This is necessary as some immigrant parents experience parenting challenges related to settlement issues, such as culture shock, racism, and lack of employment.

Many schools in Canada have successfully employed settlement workers in school programs. Cultural brokers and settlement workers in schools share many similarities. Settlement workers provide a link between immigrant children/youth and their families and the resources at the local school and within the community. Meanwhile, settlement workers are able to connect immigrant families with settlement and other services that are available, as well as important information about the settlement process. Settlement workers have been a very important asset for families and youth. Cultural brokers engage in similar activities while additionally serving a bridging and mediating role between the new immigrant or immigrant family and persons and institutions of a cultural background. Cultural brokers are able different help misunderstandings and conflicts between these groups and are able to facilitate and be an interpreter that facilitates service provision. Cultural brokers have been commonly used in the medical service field in the U.S. (see Michie 2003; North York Community House N.d.).

3.3 A Less Eurocentric Alternative to Social Inclusion

According to some, immigration policy frameworks should promote cultural identification with one's heritage culture, rather than simply endorsing acculturation (e.g., Nguyen, Jennine, and Flora 2011:1556). Promoting cultural identification of immigrant youth with their own heritage can help reduce levels of depressive symptoms in early adulthood among first-generation immigrants (Nguyen, Jennine, and Flora 2011:1556). Costigan (2009:270) suggests that one means of nurturing ethnic identity among immigrant youth is to promote active participation in ethnic cultural practices; this could be encouraged via increased local and federal government funding for immigrant and ethno-cultural community organizations that provide opportunities to learn about and participate in cultural activities.

Equally important, a less Eurocentric approach to the social inclusion of immigrant youth in Canada could actively promote Indigenous culture as an alternative to English and French Canadian cultural identities. Racialized immigrant youth may identify with the struggles of Indigenous people in Canada to overcome a history of colonization and marginalization and serve as a counterweight to the largely Eurocentric school curricula.

Youth from immigrant backgrounds tend to develop multiple identities and affiliations, as newcomer youth are at a life stage when they are more adaptable to change (Ali 2008; Dlamini et al 2009; Dlamini and Anucha 2009; Costigan et al. 2010; Franke 2010; Kondic 2011; AMSSA 2016). A policy promoting a strong identification with Indigenous culture and with immigrant youth's own cultural practices is hence feasible. The operationalization of a less Eurocentric approach to the social inclusion of immigrant youth could be conducted in partnerships with ethno-cultural immigrant organizations, Indigenous cultural and educational organizations, settlement agencies, school boards, and local governments. Such a policy alternative would align well with Canada's multiculturalism policy.

3.4 Promoting STEM Careers Among Immigrant Youth

Boyd 2016 shows that East Asians, and particularly Chinese students, are most likely to have studied business, management, public administration, science, technology, engineering, and mathematics, which translates into higher incomes (Boyd 2016). The fields of Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics are commonly referred to as STEM. The STEM sector in Canada is growing at a healthy rate, and STEM jobs offer higher salaries than most professional occupations on average (Expert Panel on STEM Skills for the Future 2015). Educational partnerships could be established between educational institutions, industry, and community organizations to further

promote careers in the STEM sector. The STEM Skills and Canada's Economic Productivity 2015 Report commissioned by the Council of Canadian Academies includes specific recommendations for promoting STEM professions among youth and promoting skill sets that could complement STEM skills to foster a growth in innovation and productivity. Such recommendations could be used to develop a strategic plan to further promote STEM professions among immigrant youth in Canada.

3.5 Adopting a Family-Centred Approach to Immigrant Youth Services

Research consistently identifies the value of more family-inclusive services to immigrant youth. The adoption of a family centric approach to educational, settlement, and mental health services can further support the overall development of immigrant youth. The dominant way in which services are constructed is with the idea of the autonomous individual outside of a family context. However, immigrant integration, especially in the case of youth, is not an individual process but truly a family affair, and programming needs to be designed within this reality (Shields and Lujan Forthcoming; Shields et al. Forthcoming).

4. REFERENCES

Abada, Teresa and Eric Y. Tenkorang. 2009a. "Pursuit of university education among the children of immigrants in Canada: the roles of parental human capital and social capital." *Journal of Youth Studies* 12(2):185-207. doi: 10.1080/13676260802558870.

Abada, Teresa and Eric Y. Tenkorang. 2009b. "Gender Differences in Educational Attainment among the Children of Canadian Immigrants." *International Sociology* 24(4):580–608. doi: 10.1177/0268580909334503.

Abada, Teresa and Sylvia Lin. 2014. "Labour market outcomes of the children of immigrants in Ontario." *Canadian studies in population* 41(1-2):78-96. doi: 10.25336/P68G7Z.

Agyekum, Boadi. 2011. "Labour market perceptions and experiences among Ghanaian-Canadian second-generation youths in the Greater Toronto Area." *Norsk Geografisk Tidsskrift/Norwegian Journal of Geography* 70(2):112-124 doi: 10.1080/00291951.2015.1126635.

AMSSA 2016. "Newcomer Youth: Challenges and Strengths." *Migration Matters* 35(11). Retrieved from: http://www.amssa.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/InfoSheet35_Youth.pdf. (August 17, 2018).

Anisef, Paul, Robert Brown, Kelli Phythian, Robert Sweet, and David Walters. 2010. "Early school leaving among immigrants in Toronto secondary schools." *Canadian review of sociology/Revue canadienne de sociologie* 47(2):103-128. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-618X.2010.01226.x.

Assefa, Elizabeth, Mariyan Petrov, Bojana Radan, and Olivia Sonnenberg. 2017. Newcomer Youth Homelessness. Toronto: Munk School of Global Affairs. Retrieved from: http://www.yws.on.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Munk_Capstone_Final-Report_Newcomer-Youth-Homelessness-2017.pdf. (August 17, 2018)

Barozzino, Tony. 2010. "Immigrant Health and the Children and Youth of Canada: Are We Doing Enough?" *Healthcare Quarterly* 14(Sp):53-59 doi: 10.12927/hcq.2010.21983.

Beiser, Morton, Nelly Silver, Laura Simich, Rafael Youngmann, Ada Zohar, Busha Taa, and Feng Hau. 2011. "Regional effects on the mental health of immigrant children: Results from the New Canadian Children and Youth Study (NCCYS)." *Health and Place* 17(3):822-829 doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.03.005.

Berman, Helene, Gloria Alvernaz Mulcahy, Cheryl Forchuk, Kathryn Ann Edmunds, Amy Haldenby, Raquel Lopez. 2009. "Uprooted and Displaced: A Critical Narrative

Study of Homeless, Aboriginal, and Newcomer Girls in Canada." *Issues in Mental Health Nursing.* 10(1080):418-430. doi: 10.1080/01612840802624475.

Boyd, Monica and Siyue Tian. 2016. "Educational and Labor Market Attainments of the 1.5- and Second-Generation Children of East Asian Immigrants in Canada." *American Behavioral Scientist* 60(5-6):705-729. doi: 10.1177/0002764216632830.

Bryan, Catherine and Myriam Denov. 2011. "Separated Refugee Children in Canada: The Construction of Risk Identity". *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies* 9(3):242-266. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/24469622. (August 22, 2018).

Canadian Mental Health Association. 2014. "Newcomer Youth in Canada". Retrieved from: https://ontario.cmha.ca/news/hidden-population-risk-homelessness-immigrant-newcomer-youth-canada/. (August 17, 2018).

Canadian Observatory on Homelessness. 2017. Youth Employment Tool Kit: Homeless Hub Retrieve from: http://homelesshub.ca/toolkit/subchapter/youth-unemployment-statistics. (August 19, 2018).

City of Toronto. 2016. "Syrian Refugee Youth Resettlement in Toronto: Literature Review and Mapping." A report of the Refugee Resettlement Program, Toronto Newcomer Office.

Costigan, Catherine, Tina Su, and Josephine Hua. 2009. "Ethnic identity among Chinese Canadian youth: A review of the Canadian literature". *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie canadienne* 50(4):261-272. doi: 10.1037/a0016880.

Costigan, Catherine L., Céline Koryzma, Josephine Hua, and Lauren Chance. 2010. "Ethnic Identity, Achievement, and Psychological Adjustment: Examining Risk and Resilience Among Youth From Immigrant Chinese Families in Canada" *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology* 16(2):264-273. doi: 10.1037/a0017275.

Dei, George., and Joanna Anneke Rummens. 2010. "Including the Excluded: De-Marginalizing Immigrant/Refugee and Racialized Students" *Education Canada* 50(5):48-53.

Dlamini, Nombuso, and Uzu Anucha. 2009. "Trans-nationalism, Social Identities and African Youth in the Canadian Diaspora." *Social Identities* 15(2):227-242. doi: 10.1177/0886109912464479.

Dlamini Nombuso, S. Barat Wolfe, Uzo Anucha, and Miu Chung Yan. 2009. "Engaging the Canadian Diaspora: Youth social identities in a Canadian border city." *McGill Journal of Education* 44 (3):405-433. doi: 10.7202/039947ar.

Dumbrill, Gary C. 2009. "Your Policies, Our Children: Messages from Refugee Parents to Child Welfare Workers and Policymakers." *Child Welfare* 88(3):145-168.

Edge, Sara, Bruce Newbold, and Marie McKeary. 2014. "Exploring socio-cultural factors that mediate, facilitate, & constrain the health and empowerment of refugee youth." *Social Science & Medicine* 117(0):34-41. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.07.025.

Francis, Jenny, and Miu-Chung Yan. 2016. "Bridging the Gaps: Access to Formal Support Services among Young African Immigrants and Refugees in Metro Vancouver." *Canadian Ethnic Studies* 48(1):77-100. doi: 10.1353/ces.2016.0010.

Franke, Sandra. 2010. Current Realities and Emerging Issues Facing Youth in Canada: An Analytical Framework for Public Policy Research, Development and Evaluation.

Ottawa: Human Resources and Skilled Development Canada. Retrieved from: https://books-scholarsportal-

info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/en/read?id=/ebooks/ebooks0/gibson_cppc/2010-08-06/6/10385652. (August 17, 2018).

Finnie, Ross, and Richard Mueller. 2009. *Access to Post-Secondary Education Among The Children of Canadian Immigrants*. Toronto: Educational Policy Institute. Retrieved from: https://books-scholarsportal-

info.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/en/read?id=/ebooks/ebooks0/gibson_cppc/2010-08-06/5/10368444#page=1. (August 25, 2017).

Farrales, May, and Geraldine Pratt. 2012. "Stalled Development of Immigrant Filipino Youths: Migration, Suspended Ambitions and the ESL Classroom". *Metropolis British Columbia Working Paper Series* 12(10):1-60. Retrieved from: http://mbc.metropolis.net/assets/uploads/files/wp/2012/WP12-10.pdf (August 25, 17).

George, M. Anne, Cherylynn Bassani, and Robert Armstrong. 2012. "Influence of Perceived Racial Discrimination on Health and Behaviour of Immigrant Children in British Columbia." *International Journal of Population Research* V.2012(274963):1-9. doi: 10.1155/2012/274963.

Guruge, Sepali, and Hissan Butt. 2015. "A scoping review of mental health issues and concerns among immigrant and refugee youth in Canada: Looking back, moving forward." Canadian journal of public health/Revue canadienne de santé publique 106(2):72-77. doi: 10.17269/cjph.106.4588.

Halton Region. 2016. "A Promising Future: Halton Newcomer Youth Report 2016". Retrieved from:

http://www.welcometohalton.ca/en/newcomerstrategy/Documents/Halton%20Youth%20Report.pdf. (August 17, 2018).

Hamilton, Hayley, Samuel Noh, and Edward Adlaf. 2009. "Adolescent Risk Behaviours and Psychological Distress across Immigrant Generations Hayley Canadian Public Health Association." *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 100(3):221-225. doi: 10.17269/cjph.100.1796.

Hamilton, Hayley, Lysandra Marshall, Joanna Rummens, Haile Fenta, and Laura Simich. 2011. "Immigrant Parents' Perceptions of School Environment and Children's Mental Health and Behavior." *Journal of School Health* 81(6):313-319 doi: 10.1111/j.1746-1561.2011.00596.x.

Hilario, Carla, X. Vo Dzung, Joy L. Johnson, and Elizabeth Saewyc. 2014. "Acculturation, Gender, and Mental Health of Southeast Asian Immigrant Youth in Canada." *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health* 16(6) (December):1121-1129. doi: 10.1007/s10903-014-9978-x.

Homma, Yuko, Elizabeth Saewyc, Sabrina Wong, and Bruno Zumbo. 2013. "Sexual health and risk behaviour among East Asian adolescents in British Columbia." *The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality* 22(1):13-24. doi: 10.3138/cjhs.927.

Hou, Feng, and Aneta Bonikowska. 2016. "Educational and Labour Market Outcomes of Childhood Immigrants by Admission Class." *Statistics Canada Social Analysis and Modelling Division*. 11F0019M(377) Retrieve from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/11f0019m/11f0019m2016377-eng.pdf?st=CqhDmZRW. (August 17, 2018).

Handy, Femida, and Itay Greenspan. 2009. "Immigrant Volunteering: A Stepping Stone to Integration? Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector." *Quarterly* 38(6):956-982. doi: 10.1177/0899764008324455.

Hulchanski, David. 2010. "The three cities within Toronto: Income polarization among Toronto's neighbourhoods, 1970-2005." Research Report by the University of Toronto's Cities Centre. Retrieved August 17, 2018 from: http://www.urbancentre.utoronto.ca/pdfs/curp/tnrn/Three-Cities-Within-Toronto-2010-Final.pdf.

Immigrant Services Society of BC (ISSofBC), and The Fresh Voices Initiative of Vancouver Foundation. 2016. SUMMARY REPORT Syrian refugee youth consultation. Vancouver BC: ISSofBC Welcome Centre. Retrieved from: http://issbc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/SUMMARY-REPORT-Syrian-Refugee-Youth-Consultation-.pdf (August 17, 2018).

Kayaalp, Dilek. 2014. "Educational inclusion/exclusion of Turkish immigrant youth in Vancouver, Canada: a critical analysis." *International Journal of Education* 18(7):655-668. doi: 10.1080/13603116.2013.802031.

Kayaalp, Dilek. 2015. "Living with an accent: a sociological analysis of linguistic strategies of immigrant youth in Canada." *Journal of Youth Studies* 19(2):133-148. doi: 10.1080/13676261.2015.1052050.

Kondic, Radmila. 2011. "Yugoslavian immigrant youth and the negotiation of their identity within the Canadian context: the effects of posttraumatic stress disorder."

Theses and dissertations. Paper 1328. MA Immigration and Settlement Studies, Ryerson University. Retrieved from: file:///Users/omarlujan/Downloads/OBJ%20Datastream.pdf (August 17, 2018).

Kukaswadia A, W. Pickett, I. Janssen. 2014. "Time Since Immigration and Ethnicity as Predictors of Physical Activity among Canadian Youth: A Cross-Sectional Study." *PLoS ONE* 9(2):1-9. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0089509.

Lauer, Sean, Lori Wilkinson, Miu Chung Yan, Rick Sin, and Ka Tat Tsang. 2012. "Immigrant Youth and Employment: Lessons Learned from the Analysis of LSIC and 82 Lived Stories." *Journal of International Migration and Integration* 13(1):1-19. doi: 10.1007/s12134-011-0189-1.

Li, Jun. 2009. "Forging the Future Between Two Different Worlds: Recent Chinese Immigrant Adolescents Tell Their Cross-Cultural Experiences." *Journal of Adolescent Research* 24(4):477-504. doi: 10.1177/0743558409336750.

Li, Jun. 2010. "My home and my school: examining immigrant adolescent narratives from the critical sociocultural perspective." *Race Ethnicity and Education* 13(1):119-137. doi: 10.1080/13613320903550154.

Li, Xuemei, Antoinette Doyle, Lymburner Maureen, and Ghadi Needal Yasin. 2016. "Parental Support for Newcomer Children's Education in a Smaller Centre/Soutien parental pour l'éducation des enfants des nouveaux venus dans un centre plus petit." Comparative and International Education 45(3):1-15. Retrieved from: Centre.pdf. (August 17, 2018)

Li, Xuemei, Hua Que, and Keith Power. 2017. "Welcome to "the Rock": Service Providers' Views on Newcomer Youth Integration in Newfoundland and Labrador." *Journal of International Migration and Integration* 18(4):1488-3473. doi: 10.1007/s12134-017-0520-6.

Lightman, Naomi, and Luann Good Gingrich. 2012. "The Intersecting Dynamics of Social Exclusion: Age, Gender, Race and Immigrant Status in Canada's Labour Market". *Canadian Ethnic Studies* 44(3):121-145. doi: 10.1353/ces.2013.0010.

Lindsay, Sally, Gillian King, Anne F. Klassen, Victoria Esses, and Melissa Stachel. 2012. "Working with immigrant families raising a child with a disability: challenges and recommendations for healthcare and community service providers." *Disability and Rehabilitation* 34(23):2007-2017. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2012.667192.

Lipsicas, Cendrine Bursztein, and Ilkka Henrik Mäkinen. 2010. "Immigration and Suicidality in the Young." *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry* 55 (5):274-285. doi: 10.1177/070674371005500502.

Lee, Jo-Anne, and Veronica Pacini-Ketchabaw. 2011. "Immigrant girls as caregivers to younger siblings: a transnational feminist analysis." *Gender and Education*. 23(2):105-119. doi: 10.1080/09540251003674063.

Lund, Darren, and Lianne Lee. 2015. "Fostering Cultural Humility among Pre-Service Teachers: Connecting with Children and Youth of Immigrant Families through Service-Learning." *Canadian Journal of Education / Revue canadienne de l'éducation* 38(2):1-30. doi: 10.1002/9781119144397.ch11.

Mady, Callie. 2012. "Official language bilingualism to the exclusion of multilingualism: immigrant student perspectives on French as a second official language in 'English-dominant' Canada." *Language and Intercultural Communication* 12(1):74-89. doi: 10.1080/14708477.2011.592193.

MacNevin, Joanne. 2012. "Learning the Way: Teaching and Learning with and for Youth from Refugee Backgrounds on Prince Edward Island." *Canadian Journal of Education / Revue canadienne de l'éducation* 35(3):48-63. Retrieved from: http://journals.sfu.ca/cje/index.php/cje-rce/article/view/1074/1321. (August 17, 2018).

Michael Michie, Michael. 2003. "The role of culture brokers in intercultural science education: A research proposal." Centre for Research in Science and Technology Education, University of Waikato - Paper presented at the 34th annual conference of the Australasian Science Education Research Association held in Melbourne, 10-12 July. Retrieved from: http://members.ozemail.com.au/~mmichie/culture_brokers1.htm. (September 9, 2018).

Nguyen, Hien, Rawana Jennine, and David Flora 2011. "Risk and Protective Predictors of Trajectories of Depressive Symptoms Among Adolescents from Immigrant Backgrounds." *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health.* 40 (11):1544-1558. 10.1007/s10964-011-9636-8.

North York Community House. n.d. *Impact: Settlement in Schools & Libraries*. Toronto. Retrieved from: https://www.nych.ca/blog-posts/2015/6/24/settlement-in-schools-libraries. (September 9, 2018).

Odo, Dennis Murphy, Reginald D'Silva, and Lee Gunderson. 2012. "High school may not be enough: an investigation of Asian students' eligibility for post-secondary education." *Canadian Journal of Education* 35(2):249-267. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/canajeducrevucan.35.2.249. (August 24, 2018).

Oxman-Martinez, Jacqueline Rummens, J. Anneke, Jacques Moreau, Ye Ri Choi, and Beiser, Morton, Linda Ogilvie, and Robert Armstrong. 2012. "Perceived Ethnic

Discrimination and Social Exclusion: Newcomer Immigrant Children in Canada." *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 82(3):376-388. 10.1111/j.1939-0025.2012.01161.x

Pendakur, Krishna, and Ravi Pendakur. 2016. "Which Child Immigrants Face Earnings Disparity? Age at Immigrant, Ethnic Minority Status and Labour Market Attainment in Canada." *International Migration* 54 (5):43-59. doi: 10.1111/imig.12256.

Prasad, Gail. 2012. "Multiple Minorities or Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CLD) Plurilingual Learners?: Re-envisioning Allophone Immigrant Children and Their Inclusion in French-Language Schools in Ontario." *The Canadian Modern Language Review / La revue canadienne des langues vivantes* 68(2):190-215. doi: 10.3138/cmlr.68.2.190.

Reza, Nakhaie. 2017. "Service Needs of Immigrants and Refugees." *Journal of International Migration and Integration* 19(2):1-18. doi: 10.1007/s12134-017-0534-0.

Rousseau, Cécile, Ghayda Hassan, Toby Measham, Nicolas Moreau, and Myrna Lashley, Thelma Castro, Caminne Blake, and George McKenzie. 2009. "From the family universe to the outside world: Family relations, school attitude, and perception of racism in Caribbean and Filipino adolescents." *Place* 15(3):751-760. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2008.12.004.

Rossiter, Marian and Katherine Rossiter. 2009. "Diamonds in the Rough: Bridging Gaps in Supports for At-Risk Immigrant and Refugee Youth." *Journal of International Migration and Integration / Revue de l'integration et de la migration international* 10(4):402-409. doi: 10.1007/s12134-009-0110-3.

Rossiter, Marian, Sarvenaz Hatami, Daniel Ripley, and Katherine Rossiter. 2015. "Immigrant And Refugee Youth Settlement Experiences: 'A New Kind Of War'." *International Journal of Child, Youth and Family Studies* 6(4.1):746–770. doi: 10.18357/ijcyfs.641201515056.

Rossiter, Marian, and Katherine Rossiter. 2009b. "Immigrant youth and crime: Stakeholder perspectives on risk and protective factors." *PMC Working Series* WP02(09):1-17. doi: 10.18357/ijcyfs.641201515056.

Salehi, Roxana. 2010. "Intersection of Health, Immigration, and Youth: A Systematic Literature Review." *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health* 12 (5):788-797. doi: 10.1007/s10903-009-9247-6.

Salehi, Roxana, Michaela Hynie, Sarah Flicke. 2014. "Factors Associated with Access to Sexual Health Services Among Teens in Toronto: Does Immigration Matter?" *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health* 16(4):638-645. doi: 10.1007/s10903-013-9961-y.

Sarnia-Lambton Local Immigration Partnership (LIP). 2013. "Sport And Recreation Opportunities For Immigrant Children And Youth In Sarnia-Lambton Research Report."

Retrieved from: http://p2pcanada.ca/wp-content/blogs.dir/1/files/2015/05/Sport-and-Recreation-Opportunities-for-Immigrant-Children-and-Youth-in-Sarnia-Lambton-.pdf. (August 17, 2018).

Shakya, Yogendra, Sepali Guruge, Michaela Hynie, Arzo Akbari, Mohamed Malik, Sheila Htoo, Azza Khogali, Stella Abiyo Mona, Rabea Murtaza, and Sarah Alley. 2010. "Aspirations for Higher Education among Newcomer Refugee Youth in Toronto: Expectations, Challenges, and Strategies." *Refugee* 27(2):65-75. Retrieved from https://refuge.journals.yorku.ca/index.php/refuge/article/view/34723/31553. (August 17, 2018).

Shakya, Yogendra B., Nazilla Khanlou, and Tahira Gonsalves. 2010. "Determinants of Mental Health for Newcomer Youth: Policy and Service Implications." *Canadian Issues* (Summer):98–102. Retrieved from http://canada.metropolis.net/pdfs/fow_08nov10_immi_mntal_hlth_e.pdf. (August 21, 2018).

Shields, John, Mai Phan, Fang Yang, Philip Kelly, Maryse Lemoine, Lucia Lo, Valerie Preston, and Steven Tufts. 2010. "Immigrants Returning to School: Does Returning to School After Immigration Affect Labour Market Outcomes for Immigrants?" Toronto Immigrant Employment Data Initiative, TIEDI Analytical Report 9. Retrieved from: http://www.yorku.ca/tiedi/pubreports9.html. (September 9, 2018).

Shields, John, Maria Gintova, Sepali Guruge, Reena Tandon, and Mia Hershkowitz. Forthcoming. "Settling on Services." In *Putting Family First: Migration and Integration*, edited by Harald Bauder. Vancouver: UBC Press.

Shields, John and Omar Lujan. Forthcoming. "The Economic and Labour Market Dynamics of Family Settlement." In *Putting Family First: Migration and Integration*, edited by Harald Bauder. Vancouver: UBC Press.

Silva, Derek, (2018). "Radicalisation: the journey of a concept', revisited." *Race and Class*. 59(4):34-53. doi: 10.1177/0306396817750778.

Sersli, Stephanie, Jorge Salazar, and Nathalie Lozano. 2010. *Gang Prevention for New Immigrant and Refugee Youth in B.C. Community Consultation Paper*. A Report for the Ministry of Public Safety and Solicitor General. Retrieved from: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/public-safety-and-emergency-services/crime-prevention/community-crime-prevention/publications/gang-prevention-immigrant-refugee.pdf (August 17, 2017).

Stoll, Kathrin. 2008. "Correlates and Predictors of Tobacco Use Among Immigrant and Refugee Youth in a Western Canadian City." *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health* 10 (6):567-574. doi: 10.1007/s10903-008-9136-4.

Social Planning Council of Ottawa. 2010. *Immigrant Children, Youth, and Families: A qualitative study of the challenges of integration*. Ottawa. Retrieved from: from: https://www.spcottawa.on.ca/sites/all/files/pdf/2010/Publications/Immigrant-Family-Report-English.pdf. (August 17, 2018).

St. Stephen's Community House and Access Alliance. 2016. "Tired of the Hustle: Youth Voices of Unemployment". Toronto. Retrieved from: http://accessalliance.ca/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/TiredoftheHustleReport.pdf. (August 17, 2018).

Stermac, Lana, Susan Elgie, Hester Dunlap, Theresa Kelly. 2010. "Educational experiences and achievements of war-zone immigrant students in Canada." *Vulnerable Children and Youth Studies* 5(2):97-107. doi: 10.1080/17450120903440399.

Sweet, R., P. Anisef, R. Brow, D. Walters, and K. Phythian. (2010). *Post-High School Pathways of Immigrant Youth*. Toronto: Higher Education Quality Council of Ontario. Retrieved from: http://www.heqco.ca/SiteCollectionDocuments/Pathways%20ENG.pdf (August 17, 2018).

Tabu, Masinda, Marianne Jacquet, and Danièle Moore. 2014. "An Integrated Framework for Immigrant Children and Youth's School Integration: A Focus on African Francophone Students in British Columbia – Canada." *International Journal of Education* 6(1):90-107. 10.5296/ije.v6i1.4321.

Taylor, Alison, and Krahn Harvey. 2013. "Living Through Our Children: Exploring the Education and Career 'Choices' of Racialized Immigrant Youth in Canada." *Journal of Youth Studies* 16(8):1000-1021. doi: 10.1080/13676261.2013.772575.

The Expert Panel on STEM Skills for the Future. 2015. Some Assembly Required: STEM Skills and Canada's Economic Productivity. Ottawa: Council of Canadian Academies. Retrieved from:

http://www.scienceadvice.ca/uploads/ENG/AssessmentsPublicationsNewsReleases/STEM/STEMFullReportEn.pdf. (August 17, 2018).

Thomson, Mary Susan, Ferzana Chaze, Usha George, Sepali Guruge. 2015. "Improving Immigrant Populations' Access to Mental Health Services in Canada: A Review of Barriers and Recommendations." *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health* 17 (6):1895-1905. doi: 10.1007/s10903-015-0175-3.

Tyyska, Vappu. 2014. *Youth and Society: The Long and Winding Road*. 3rd Edition. Canadian Scholars' Press Inc. Toronto, Ontario.

UNESCO. *UNESCO Operational Strategy on Youth 2014-2021*. Paris: The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. Retrieved from: http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002271/227150e.pdf. (August 17, 2018).

Van Ngo, Hieu. 2009. "Patchwork, Sidelining and Marginalization: Services for Immigrant Youth." *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies* 7(1):82-100. doi: 10.1080/15562940802687280.

Van Ngo, Hieu, Catherine Worthington, Pyrch Time, and David Este. 2017. "The Unravelling of Identities and Belonging: Criminal Gang Involvement of Youth from Immigrant Families." *Int. Migration & Integration* 18(1):63-84. doi: 10.1007/s12134-015-0466-5.

Wahi, Gita, Michael Boyle, Katherine Morrison, and Katholiki Georgiades. (2014). "Body mass index among immigrant and non-immigrant youth: evidence from the Canadian Community Health Survey." *Canadian journal of public health/Revue canadienne de santé publique* 105(4):239-244. doi: 10.17269/cjph.105.4288.

Walsh, C.A. D. Este, D., B. Krieg, and B. Giurgiu. (2011). "Needs of Refugee Children in Canada: What Can Roma Refugee Families Tell Us?" *Journal of Comparative Family Studies* 42(4):599-614. doi: 10.1007/s12134-015-0444-y.

Wesley Urban Ministries. 2014. *Newcomer Youth Support Services – Evaluation*. A report for Citizenship and Immigration Canada. Retrieved from: http://wesley.ca/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/NYSS-Evaluation-Report-Dec.pdf (August 17, 2018).

Wilkinson, Lori. 2008. "Labor Market Transitions of Immigrant-Born, Refugee-Born, and Canadian-Born Youth." *Canadian Review of Sociology/Revue canadienne de sociologie* 45(2):151-176. doi: 10.1111/j.1755-618X.2008.00008.x.

Wilkinson, Lori, Mui Chung Yan, Ka Tat Tsang, Rick Sin, Sean Laurer. 2012. "School to Work Transition of Newcomer Youth in Canada" *Canadian Ethnic Studies* 44 (3):29-44. doi: 10.1353/ces.2013.0000.

Yan, M. C., S. Lauer, and S. Jhangiani. 2008. "Riding the Boom: Labour Market Experiences of New Generation Youth from Visible Minority Immigrant Families." *Canadian Ethnic Studies* 40(2):129-148. doi: 10.1353/ces.2010.0012.

Yan, M.C., S. Lauer, and S. Chan. 2012. "Double Jeopardy: An Exploratory Study of Youth From Immigrant Families Entering the Job Market." *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies* 10(1):96-115. doi: 10.1080/15562948.2012.646506

Yogasingam, Sharlini. 2017. "Understanding the Adjustment Experiences of Recent Muslim Immigrant Youth." M.A Thesis. Western Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies. University of Western Ontario. Retrieved from: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=6212&context=etd. (August 17, 2018).

Yohani, Sophie. 2013. "Educational Cultural Brokers and the School Adaptation of Refugee Children and Families: Challenges and Opportunities." *Journal of International Migration and Integration* 14(1):61-7. doi: 10.1007/s12134-011-0229-x.

Zaami, Mariama. 2015. "I Fit the Description': Experiences of Social and Spatial Exclusion among Ghanaian Immigrant Youth in the Jane and Finch Neighbourhood of Toronto." *Canadian Ethnic Studies* 47 (3):69-89. Retrieved from http://muse.jhu.edu/article/594778 (August 22, 2018).